IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA
CASE NO. SC07-330

MAURICE LAMAR FLOYD,
Appellant,

vs.

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,
Appellee

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT
OF THE SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT,
IN AND FOR PUTNAM COUNTY, FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF THE APPELLANT

David R. Gemmer
Assistant CCRC-Middle
Florida Bar Number 370541
Office of The Capital
Collateral Regional Counsel
3801 Corporex Park Drive
Suite 210
Tampa, Fl 33609-1004
(813) 740-3544

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The record on the appeal from the post-conviction motion hearing is in two parts, the original record which omitted the transcripts of the hearings, and a supplement consisting of the transcripts. The original record will be cited as AROA [VOL #] [page #], e.g. AROA IV 12-14. The supplement will be cited as AROA-S [VOL #] [page #]. References to the record on appeal in the direct appeal will be cited as AROA 2002 [VOL #] [page #].

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

This is an appeal from the denial of relief in a 3.851 motion proceeding in a capital case. This Court affirmed Mr. Floyd's conviction and sentence to death on direct appeal. *Floyd v. State*, 850 So.2d 383 (Fla. 2003). This Court set out the facts from the original trial in its opinion on direct appeal.

Mary Goss, the victim in this case, was found dead at approximately 11:30 p.m. on July 13, 1998. Police found her body on the ground beside her house located on Bronson Street in Palatka, Florida.¹ The cause of Ms. Goss's death was a single .357 caliber gunshot that entered the left side of her face and proceeded to sever her brain stem, killing her instantaneously. Two days later, on July 15, 1998, police found Floyd, Ms. Goss's son-in-law, hiding in the attic of a house in the Palatka area. Floyd was subsequently charged with the murder of Ms. Goss.FN1

¹ The body was actually found across the street from Mrs. Goss's house, between witness Jeanette Figueroa's house and a neighboring residence.

FN1. The indictment returned against Floyd was for premeditated murder or felony murder (Count I), armed burglary of a dwelling (Count II), and aggravated assault (Count III).

. . . .[Mr. Floyd confronted Trelane at a bar about her drinking and partying, expressing his continuing displeasure with her behavior.]

When Trelane returned home around 5 a.m. on the morning of July 12, Floyd informed her that he would not permit her to sleep, and he proceeded to increase the volume on the televisions and the radio in their apartment. He also threatened to kill Trelane or someone she loved as a reprisal for her drinking or if she ever attempted to run or hide from him. Shortly thereafter, Trelane felt a gun being placed beside her head as she was lying in bed. Floyd pulled the trigger three times, but the weapon did not fire. Trelane advised Floyd that she was going to seek a divorce and testified at trial that she did not call the police about this incident because she was in a very confused state.

. . . . [Footnote 3, discussing the gun allegedly used, deleted.]

On July 13, the day Ms. Goss was murdered, Trelane and Floyd had a heated argument on a Palatka street not far from their apartment. Trelane had stopped her car in the street to speak with a friend. Her three-year-old goddaughter was also in the vehicle. Floyd was in his car behind Trelane and he insisted that Trelane take her goddaughter home, calling Trelane a "whore." Fearful for the safety of both herself and her goddaughter, Trelane decided to seek protection in a sheriff's office. Floyd followed and proceeded to ram his car into the back of Trelane's vehicle.

A high speed chase ensued, during which Trelane sounded the horn on her automobile to warn both oncoming traffic and pedestrians who might be in harm's way. The tires on both cars squealed as they slid into the parking lot at the sheriff's office. Trelane exited her car and screamed for help. Hearing both the sounds of squealing tires and Trelane's plaintive cries, Deputy Dean Kelly responded from his desk inside the sheriff's office. Deputy Kelly was the only armed officer in the vicinity as the events unfolded at approximately 7:30 p.m. that evening. Trelane hurriedly reported to Deputy Kelly that Floyd had rammed her car and that she was fearful for her safety. The deputy saw Floyd moving rapidly toward them as they spoke, and he held out his hand to prevent Floyd from accosting Trelane. He then advised Floyd that he was going to be placed into investigative custody until it could be determined exactly what had transpired. Deputy Kelly

instructed Floyd to turn around and to place his hands behind his back. Floyd extended his hands in the air and backed up, insisting that he had done nothing wrong and that he merely wanted to talk to his wife. After the deputy repeated his order for Floyd to submit to custody, Floyd fled the scene. Deputy Kelly began pursuit for a few moments but then halted, fearful of leaving Trelane and her goddaughter defenseless if Floyd decided to double back to attempt to harm them. The subsequent efforts of a K-9 unit and other officers to apprehend Floyd on the evening of July 13 were fruitless.

After giving a statement to sheriff's office personnel, Trelane called her mother, Ms. Goss, from a pay phone at the sheriff's office. Trelane testified that she "told her [mother] what was going on" regarding the incident at the sheriff's office. Ms. Goss informed Trelane that Trelane's three children were at Ms. Goss's house.FN4 After hearing what had transpired earlier on the street and at the sheriff's office between Trelane and Floyd, Ms. Goss said of Floyd, "I won't let him get my grandchildren." Ms. Goss was also aware that the twenty-one-year-old Floyd was then on probation for previous violations of the law.

FN4. Earlier on July 13, Floyd had transported Trelane's three children to be with their grandmother, Ms. Goss.

During the trial, several witnesses described the subsequent events that led to the death of Ms. Goss. J.J. Jones, the oldest of Trelane's three children, testified FN5 that on July 13, 1998, the day that Ms. Goss was killed, Floyd took him and his two younger siblings to the home of their grandmother, Ms. Goss. J.J. also stated that after he had fallen asleep that evening, Ms. Goss awakened him and instructed him to go to the home of her neighbor, Jeanette Figuero, and to call the police from there.

Before he exited Ms. Goss's home, J.J. noted that she was clearly upset. As J.J. was moving toward Jeanette Figuero's home, he noticed that Floyd was "squeezing [Ms. Goss] behind the door" at the front of Ms. Goss's home. Moments later he saw Ms. Goss running outside. J.J. stated that he also observed Floyd standing on Ms. Goss's front porch and firing a gun three times. J.J.'s two siblings, LaJade Evans and Alex Evans, were directly behind him, as Ms. Goss had awakened them also. J.J. testified that he never saw Floyd leave the victim's porch, and that the last thing he observed before pounding on Jeanette Figuero's door for help was his grandmother, Ms. Goss, lying on her back. J.J. eventually led the police to the spot where he thought his grandmother's body would be. As one of the officers directed a flashlight beam on the ground, the light revealed Ms. Goss's lifeless

body. Ms. Goss was clad only in a nightgown and was not wearing any undergarments.FN6

FN5. J.J. Jones was eight years old when he testified. The trial judge engaged in witness-qualification procedures to ensure that J.J. was capable of understanding the proceedings and that he understood his responsibility to testify truthfully. After the trial judge indicated that he was prepared to have J.J. sworn as a witness, the defense voiced no objection.

FN6. Ms. Goss's husband, Clifford Goss, testified that his wife never received guests in her home unless she was fully dressed. He said that she would never have company inside her home if she was not wearing undergarments.

LaJade Evans, J.J. Jones' younger sister, testified FN7 that she followed J.J. to Ms. Figuero's home to seek help. LaJade saw Floyd on the victim's porch, shooting a gun at the victim. LaJade said Floyd fired two shots from the porch, and that she heard one more shot fired in the direction of the victim. She added that she saw Floyd running toward the victim's home but that he did not go inside the home again after having fired his weapon.

FN7. LaJade Evans was six years old when she testified. After the trial judge and the State asked qualifying questions, LaJade was sworn as a witness. The defense did not object.

Jeanette Figuero testified FN8 that during the evening of July 13, she heard three gunshots followed by the sounds of pounding on her door and the plaintive cries of a child or children saying, "Open the door, open the door, please open the door." Figuero's son, Gary Melendez, opened the door to allow J.J., LaJade, and Alex into the home. Figuero said the children were talking very fast and when she inquired as to the problem, they exclaimed that their grandmother, Ms. Goss, had been shot. When she asked J.J. who shot Ms. Goss, he responded, "Maurice Floyd." FN9 Figuero also testified that she heard J.J. mention Floyd's name when he talked to the 911 dispatcher.FN10 The prosecutor asked Jeanette Figuero if she believed that J.J. was "smart" and "bright," and whether she believed him when he said that Floyd had shot Ms. Goss. Figuero answered that she believed J.J. was a bright child and that she believed his version of the events, especially after she called over to Ms. Goss from her front porch and received no response.

FN8. In the chronology of the trial, Jeanette Figuero testified before J.J. Jones.

FN9. Floyd's objection to this testimony as inadmissible hearsay and lacking in foundation was overruled. Floyd did not object

until Ms. Figuero had fully completed her answer. Gary Melendez, Figuero's son, also testified that the children said that "Maurice Floyd" shot Ms. Goss. He said the children were frightened, crying, and nervous when they first reached Figuero's home.

FN10. Relevant parts of J.J. Jones' conversation with the 911 dispatcher were played during the trial over Floyd's hearsay objections. On the 911 tape, J.J. Jones said that "Maurice Floyd" was the person "who was shooting."

Figuero also testified that earlier in the evening on July 13, she had been speaking with her neighbor, John Brown, from the porch of her house. Brown mentioned that a young male had been constantly walking up and down the sidewalk in front of Ms. Goss's home. Subsequently, Figuero noticed that a young African-American male was on Ms. Goss's front porch, and was talking to Ms. Goss for some time through the closed screen door. She could not recognize the young male because his back was to her and it was also dark. After leaving her porch for a few moments and then returning, Figuero noticed that the young male had apparently entered Ms. Goss's home. She heard the voice of an angry male emanating from inside the victim's home, addressing Ms. Goss in sometimes profane tones. Figuero testified that she clearly heard the young male say in an angry tone, "Why did she have to involve the GD crackers." She also saw the young male move menacingly toward a person who was sitting on the sofa in Ms. Goss's home. The young male abruptly halted when he noticed that Figuero had spotted him. Figuero stated that she assumed at all times the young male was addressing himself to Ms. Goss because she knew that Ms. Goss was in the home. Approximately twenty-five minutes after hearing the angry male's voice, Figuero heard the sounds of gunfire which led J.J. Jones and his siblings to appear at her door.

. . . . [FN 11 deleted, discussing Ms. Figuero's use of initials to repeat profanities she overheard and explain that "crackers" could mean white person, such as the deputy at the sheriff's office]

John Brown, the neighbor with whom Figuero was speaking earlier that evening, testified that on the evening of July 13 he saw two men walking up and down the sidewalk in the vicinity of Ms. Goss's house. One man, dressed in black, was noticeably taller than the other.

The shorter man eventually disappeared from sight, but the taller man continued walking up and down the sidewalk. The man dressed in black eventually made his way up the steps of the home to Ms. Goss's front porch and began talking to her. Brown testified that approximately an

hour later he heard a loud "commotion" emanating from Ms. Goss's house, involving a loud, angry male voice. He heard "two big shots" while he was still inside his home and subsequently heard children running. Proceeding to the sidewalk in front of his home, Brown saw a man dressed in black run off the steps of Ms. Goss's home and then run up a side street in a northerly direction. Brown stated that this man "fit the general description" of the "black man" who had dropped off children at Ms. Goss' house earlier in the day on July 13.FN12

FN12. Brown also said that the man who dropped off children at Ms. Goss's house drove a red Honda automobile. This matches the general description of Floyd's automobile which was established through other trial testimony.

Police officers Stokes and Zike responded to the 911 call made from Jeanette Figuero's home. Stokes spoke with J.J. Jones and his sister, LaJade Evans, about what had happened. He noted that they were in a very excited state when he spoke with them. He also stated that when he asked if the children had seen the shooting, they responded that Floyd had fired a gun at their grandmother, Ms. Goss.FN13 Zike testified that when he and Stokes entered Ms. Goss's home looking for suspects and clues, they noticed that "the door had been kicked in."

FN14

FN13. Floyd objected that the excited utterance exception was not a proper basis to admit Stokes's testimony regarding what the children had told him. The trial judge overruled the objection.

FN14. Ms. Goss's husband, Clifford, testified that the lock on the door appeared as if it had been kicked or broken. He said the lock was not in that condition when he left for work on July 13 at approximately 4 p.m. Ms. Goss was not at home when Clifford left for work.

The State did not produce the murder weapon at trial. However, the State did present evidence of a confession that Floyd made to a friend. Tashoni Lamb testified that Floyd visited her apartment around midnight on July 13, and that he left after 6 a.m. on July 14. Floyd asked to speak with Lamb privately, out of the hearing of her children. Lamb stated that Floyd pulled a gun out of the pants he was wearing, placed it on a dresser in the apartment, and said, "I just shot Miss Mary, the grandmother." She related that Floyd's reason for shooting Ms. Goss was that "she had threatened to call the police on him." Lamb stated that she did not call the police because she concluded that they would certainly apprehend Floyd. She further testified that Floyd contacted her by phone later on July 14, a day before he was arrested. When the

prosecutor asked at trial if anyone had ever asked her to provide an alibi for Floyd, she responded, "Maurice did." She also testified that during the phone conversation, Floyd asked, "Do you want to see me die?"

. . . .[The Court discusses a chain of custody issue related to the bullet taken from the victim's body.]

Medical examiner Dr. Terence Steiner testified that the victim sustained a gunshot injury to her face, facial bones, and brain. The bullet entered the victim through her left cheek, and the cause of death was trauma to the brain caused by a single shot. The manner of death was a homicide. Dr. Steiner stated that during the autopsy he recovered a spent bullet, a bullet jacket, and a lead fragment. He identified those items at trial as the ones he recovered during the autopsy. When Dr. Steiner was asked to describe the physical position of the victim when she was shot, he first opined that based on blood spatter evidence, the victim was "standing up." Moments later, however, he elaborated that "perhaps she was almost maybe kneeling, but she was upright to the injury to the brain, severed the brainstem, which is instantaneous, if you will, death."

After Dr. Steiner's testimony, the State rested and Floyd presented his motion for judgment of acquittal, which was denied. Floyd did not testify in his own defense, nor did he present any witnesses or evidence on his behalf during the guilt phase. The jury convicted Floyd on all charges.FN15

FN15. In its verdict form, the jury found Floyd guilty based on the theories of both premeditated murder and felony murder. On the verdict form, the line for Count I, indicating that the jury found Floyd "GUILTY of First Degree Premeditated Murder, and First Degree Felony Murder as charged in the indictment" was checked, and the verdict form was signed by the jury foreperson. The jury found that the homicide involved a firearm. The verdict form also indicates that the jury found Floyd guilty of armed burglary of a dwelling, and that a firearm was involved in this offense. Floyd was convicted in 1999.

Additionally, the verdict form indicates that the jury found Floyd guilty of aggravated assault. Floyd does not challenge his conviction for aggravated assault. Nevertheless, we determine that competent, substantial evidence supports the aggravated assault conviction.

The State introduced victim impact evidence during the penalty phase, along with evidence of Floyd's prior conviction for a violent felony in North Carolina and evidence of his current parole violation.

Floyd did not testify in the penalty phase, nor did he present any witnesses or evidence on his behalf. The jury recommended a sentence of death by a vote of eleven to one. A *Spencer* hearing FN16 was held prior to the pronouncement of sentence. In sentencing Floyd to death for the murder of Ms. Goss, the trial judge found four statutory aggravating factors FN17 and no statutory mitigating factors. Four nonstatutory mitigating factors were found, FN18 with each receiving little weight. The trial judge also sentenced Floyd to thirty years for the armed burglary conviction, and to five years for the aggravated assault conviction. The five-year sentence for aggravated assault was ordered to run concurrently with the thirty-year sentence for armed burglary. This appeal followed.

FN16. See *Spencer v. State*, 615 So.2d 688 (Fla.1993).

FN17. Those statutory aggravating factors are: (1) Floyd was on probation for the felonies of burglary and accessory after the fact to robbery when he committed the murder (great weight); (2) Floyd had previously been convicted of the violent felony of the voluntary manslaughter of his brother (substantial weight); (3) Floyd committed the murder while engaged in the commission of armed burglary of the victim's home (great weight); and (4) Floyd committed the murder for the purpose of avoiding or preventing a lawful arrest (substantial weight).

FN18. Those nonstatutory mitigating factors are: (1) Floyd displayed exemplary courtroom behavior in the face of much adversity; (2) Floyd assisted defense counsel throughout the proceedings by taking notes and communicating with counsel; (3) Floyd was successfully completing his probation for other offenses before he committed the murder; and (4) Floyd expressed concern that his wife conduct herself in such a way that she not use alcohol and that she not subject their relationship to the potential stresses of the use of alcohol.

Floyd, 850 So.2d at 387-93. This Court denied all relief on direct appeal, except to reverse the armed burglary and felony murder convictions, and the aggravating factor of murder in the course of a felony.²

² This Court held that: (1) the state's peremptory challenge of an Hispanic juror was based on death penalty views rather than on race; (2) the

evidence was sufficient to support premeditation; (3) the evidence was insufficient to show tampering with the fatal bullet; (4) the jury instruction on burglary was erroneous and required reversal of the armed burglary and felony murder convictions, and the aggravating factor of murder in the course of a felony; (5) the evidence was sufficient to support the heinous, atrocious, or cruel (HAC) aggravating circumstance instruction; (6) the evidence was sufficient to support the aggravating circumstance that murder was committed for the purpose of avoiding or preventing defendant's lawful arrest; and (7) the sentence of death based on premeditation was not disproportional, despite striking the murder in the course of a felony aggravating circumstance and reversal of the felony murder conviction. 580 So. 2d at 393 *passim*.

Mr. Floyd has always maintained that he is innocent of the homicide and the armed burglary charged in the indictment. Mr. Floyd timely filed his Motion for Post-Conviction Relief pursuant to Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.851 on January 10, 2005. ROA I 1-79. He amended the motion October 17, 2005, to include an additional claim that he was impermissibly shackled throughout the trial. ROA II 395-415 (amended claim), ROA VII 1232 (order granting motion to amend). After an evidentiary hearing, the trial court denied all claims. ROA VII 1259-78. The facts developed at the hearing by the witnesses are summarized in the defendant's written closing argument, ROA V 872-933, the state's written summation, ROA VI 1086-1129, and the defendant's reply thereto, ROA VI 1180-97 (the reply consisting entirely of refutation certain of the state's assertion of facts).

Facts Relating to the Child Witnesses

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