IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC07-330

MAURICE LAMAR FLOYD, Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA Appellee.

ANSWER BRIEF OF THE APPELLEE

BILL McCOLLUM ATTORNEY GENERAL

BARBARA C. DAVIS Fla. Bar No. 410519 ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL 444 SEABREEZE BLVD., SUITE 500 DAYTONA BEACH, FLORIDA 32114 (386)238-4990 FAX - (386) 226-0457 COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

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

(V7, P1272). The trial judge order is supported by competent substantial evidence.

<u>E. Jury selection.</u> In his original Rule 3.851 motion, Floyd alleged trial counsel was ineffective during jury selection. There was no evidence presented on

this issue, and this issue fails for lack of proof. Walton, supra.

Jury selection issues were raised on direct appeal, and this Court ruled:

Floyd asserts in his first issue that the trial judge impermissibly allowed the State to exercise a peremptory challenge to excuse Noel Rios from the prospective panel, who was identified as a Hispanic male. [FN20] Floyd contends that the trial judge impermissibly allowed the State to strike Rios from jury service based on racial grounds. [FN21] We disagree.

FN20. We reject the State's contention that this issue is not preserved for review. Floyd clearly had a continuing objection before the trial judge which we determine was sufficient to preserve the issue. (Emphasis supplied)

Floyd, 850 So. 2d at 393-395. The issue regarding Juror Rios was raised on direct appeal and decided on the merits. This Court clearly held the issue was preserved and had no merit. This issue is procedurally barred and should not be raised under the guise of ineffective assistance. *See Freeman v. State*, 761 So. 2d 1055, 1067 (Fla. 2000) (holding that claims that could have been raised on direct appeal cannot be relitigated under the guise of ineffective assistance of counsel); *Rodriguez v. State*, 919 So. 2d 1252 (Fla. 2005). In any case, the issue has no merit, so counsel cannot be ineffective.

The trial judge held:

In his original 3.851 motion, Mr. Floyd alleged that trial counsel was ineffective during jury selection. However, Mr. Floyd presented no evidence on the issue at the evidentiary hearing even though he did not

expressly abandon it. There having been no evidence on the jury selection issues the court, therefore, finds that Mr. Floyd has failed in his burden in regard to either prong of the <u>Strickland</u> test. The court further notes that the Florida Supreme Court clearly held that the jury selection issue was preserved by trial counsel and also had no merit. This court finds that issue is procedurally barred and should not have been raised in a rule 3.851 proceeding under the guise of ineffective assistance of counsel. Freeman v. State, 761 So.2d 1055 (Fla. 2000).

(V7, P1272-73).

CLAIM II

FLOYD WAS NOT DENIED THE EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF A MENTAL HEALTH EXPERT; THIS ISSUE IS PROCEDURALLY BARRED.

This claim is an "ineffective assistance of mental health expert" and is procedurally barred. This claim is brought pursuant to *Ake v. Oklahoma*, 470 U.S. 68 (1985), and this Court has repeatedly held the issue is procedurally barred. *See Marshall v. State*, 854 So. 2d 1235, 1248 (Fla. 2003) (holding an *Ake* claim contained within an ineffective assistance of counsel claim "procedurally barred because it could have been raised on direct appeal"); *Moore v. State*, 820 So. 2d 199, 203 n.4 (finding *Ake* claim procedurally barred because it could have been raised on direct appeal"); *Moore v. State*, 820 So. 2d 199, 203 n.4 (finding *Ake* claim procedurally barred because it could have been raised on direct appeal"); *Moore v. State*, 820 So. 2d 199, 203 n.4 (finding *Ake* claim procedurally barred because it could have been raised on direct appeal.").

Whether counsel was ineffective for relying on Dr. Krop's advice is discussed

in Claim 1. This Court has also repeated held that claims of ineffective assistance of

counsel based on Ake have no merit. Whitfield v. State, 923 So. 2d 375 (Fla. 2005);

Elledge v. State, 911 So. 2d 57 (Fla. 2005).

The trial judge held:

Claim II deals with a claimed "ineffective assistance of mental health expert" which is procedurally barred. This type of claim is brought pursuant to <u>Ake v. Oklahoma</u>, 470 U.S. 68 (1985). Such claims must be raised on direct appeal and are procedurally barred in collateral litigation. Marshall v. State, 854 So.2d 1235 (Fla. 2003); <u>Moore v. State</u>, 820 So.2d 1999; <u>Cherry v. State</u>, 781 So.2d 1040 (Fla. 2000).

Again, as the State points out, whether trial counsel was ineffective for relying on Dr. Krop's advice not to call him as a mitigation witness or mental status witness has been discussed above. Obviously Dr. Krop's conclusions in regard to the deficiencies in the evaluation of Mr. Floyd were not severe. The risk of having to discuss a number of negative features of Mr. Floyd's case involving his violent history and an obvious conclusion that he had an anti-social personality disorder all came into play in the evaluations done by Mr. Withee. The tactical and strategic decision was made not to present this slight positive information that Dr. Krop may be able to advance when weighed against the negative information that would likely accompany that evaluation. In essence Mr. Withee concluded, from a tactical and strategic standpoint, that the risk of damage to his client's case was outweighed by the potential benefit which on its fact seems sound and the court believes Mr. Withee in regard to that having been a tactical decision. This conclusion is complemented by the fact that Mr. Floyd and his parents gave inconsistent information that would expose the defendant to allowing the jury to conclude that he was somehow trying to manipulate the mental health status which could be devastating to his defense. It is clearly noted by the court that should those mitigating factors have been advanced, the State would have an opportunity to discuss his criminal background including the violent death of his brother at age 14 which Mr. Withee

had concluded would more likely make that a predominant feature of the case rather than others that he wished to shift the presentation to. Those are all strategic decisions made by a lawyer based on the facts and circumstances in this case. Mr. Withee had the defendant evaluated by a well regarded mental health expert who has testified in many cases like this and had been cross examined hundreds of time and who knew the likely outcome and evidentiary value of his entire analysis once exposed.

Based on both the factual and legal conclusions set forth above, Mr. Floyd has failed to carry the burden in regard to Claim II.

(V7, P1273-74). These findings are supported by competent substantial evidence.

CLAIM III

THERE WAS NO ERROR, EITHER INDIVIDUALLY OR CUMULATIVELY

There is no individual error, and thus, no cumulative error. See Harvey v. State,

946 So. 2d 937 (Fla. 2006); see also Downs v. State, 740 So. 2d 506 (Fla. 1999)

(where allegations of individual error are without merit, a cumulative error argument

based thereupon must also fail).

CLAIM IV

FLOYD'S CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHTS WERE NOT VIOLATED BY IMPROPER SHACKLING; COUNSEL WAS NOT INEFFECTIVE

An evidentiary hearing was held on this issue, after which the trial judge held:

Mr. Floyd's claim IV is based on the assertion that he is raising pursuant to <u>Deck v. Missouri</u>, <u>U.S.</u> 161 L.Ed.2d. 953, 125 S.Ct. 2007 (2005) which denounced that routine shackling of defendants as a matter of

course if not permitted during the penalty phase of a capital trial. Florida law requires that the trial courts protect the due process rights of defendant by avoiding unnecessary shackling during trials including penalty phase proceedings and has done so. <u>Hill v. State</u>, 921 So.2d 579 (Fla. 2006). The Hill case cited <u>Elledge v. Dugger</u>, 823 F.2d 1439 (11th Cir. 1987). The State asserts that the claim has been available to Mr. Floyd since Mr. Floyd's trial in 1999 and, therefore, is procedurally barred since it could and should have been raised on direct appeal. Therefore, the court finds that the argument is procedurally barred.

However, if the case were considered on its factual basis, the essence of the case is that the courts do not wish to have constraints or "shackles" that are visible to the jury, whether in the guilt phase or penalty phase of a capital murder trial. The theory is when shackles are visible to the jury, they may influence the jury to abandon the presumption that the defendant is innocent in the guilt phase of the proceeding or to perceive that he is a bad or dangerous person while considering whether to recommend a death sentence during the penalty phase. The case applies only to visible shackles.

At the evidentiary hearing, Mitch Holbrook, the bailiff at Mr. Floyd's trial, testified that Mr. Floyd did not ever have shackles on during either the guilt/innocence or penalty phase of the trial. The restraint employed was a leg brace device. The device essentially is a hinged metal device that is secured around the ankle region and upper thigh in such a way that when it straightens out totally, it locks into place. The effect of the brace would mean that the leg would be locked in place which would make it difficult or impossible for the defendant to run. The device itself is under the pants leg of the defendant and is not visible.

By practice defendants were not typically walked in and out of the courtroom in the jury's presence and each of the defendants was instructed on the operation of the leg brace so it would not lock into position. The testimony of Mr. Holbrook and other evidence at the evidentiary hearing indicated that Mr. Floyd himself testified that he wore the brace during the trial and claimed that it caused him to "limp" when he had to walk wearing it. He recalled walking to the judge's

bench for a bench conference once during trial and he claimed that the leather strap would be visible around his ankle.

Quite the contrary, Mr. Withee, defense counsel, testified that he did not remember anything about the leg brace. He did not remember anything that stood out or that the leg brace ever became a problem. Mr. Withee himself indicated that he had been "very aware" of the issues of visible shackling, jail garb and the like throughout his 30 year career and has always been "an advocate of no braces of any kind" although he stated he would not object if there was a legitimate security issue and the restraint used was not visible to the jury.

Factually during this case, Mr. Floyd had the leg brace on underneath his clothes during the guilt/innocence phase. During penalty phase the bailiffs proposed putting Mr. Floyd in cuffs or leg shackles that would have been visible to the jury. Mr. Withee objected and a hearing was held. This court directed that the shackles not be used during the penalty phase and that the same constraint used during the guilt/innocence phase, that being the leg brace, continue to be used.

The court at the time did not consider the leg brace to be a shackle and it clearly was not a visible constraint of any kind. The leg brace was a security device used to protect the court, the court staff, the public, the bailiffs, and counsel from a defendant who has now killed twice. The constraint was reasonable and invisible to the jury. At best they saw an ankle wrap around the lower part of the device. To spring to a conclusion that this is somehow a shackle or constraint requires a level of sophistication that is unlikely and clearly has not been established by the proof. When the issue was raised at the beginning of the penalty phase, the court ruled in favor of Mr. Withee and would not allow the shackles to be used during the penalty phase. Mr. Withee does not remember any noise or snapping that current counsel demonstrated at the time of the evidentiary hearing and there is absolutely no evidence that any such snapping ever took place. If it had the attorney sitting next to the defendant would obviously have heard it and he did not.

While defense counsel wishes to speculate that the jury somehow saw an

ankle wrap and concluded that the defendant was shackled seems to be in the assertion of wild speculation. The claim that the bailiffs or other court personnel may have explained the purpose of the brace to the jurors if they were curious about the leg mechanism is an absurd statement without any legal support.

It should be noted that the Putnam County Courthouse is a relatively small courthouse of ancient origin. Somehow the defendant presumes that the jury expects people charged with first degree murder to be walking to and from the courthouse every day at the beginning and the end of trial. It would not take a rocket scientist to conclude that the defendant is not coming and going with all others to and from the courtroom on a daily basis. The purpose for avoiding constraints is to avoid the negativity associated with those constraints. Obviously we have seen defendants appear in cages in civil countries and heavily shackled which creates an aura that detracts from the jury's duty to first presume a person innocent during the guilt/innocence phase and second to provide the defendant with freedom from negative influences during the important penalty phase. Both of those goals were met in this case by this trial judge. The leg device is a commonly used device that is not visible under the clothing of Mr. Floyd. Even if one or more of the jurors had seen the ankle portion of the device, there is really no logical reason they would conclude that was a restraint or anything other than a brace of some kind. The jury is instructed not to receive information about the case other than during the course of the trial from the witness stand and evidence offered in trial. To presume that they somehow went on some type of search to discover information about the brace is without record support and patently absurd. When the deputy sheriffs sought to actually use shackles, during the penalty phase, Mr. Withee objected and the court, as is its obligation, held a hearing. The court concluded that level of security was not necessary and the shackles were not used.

There is no evidence that Mr. Withee has been ineffective in regard to the constraint issue. In fact, the evidence is to the contrary. The minute visible constraints were proposed, Mr. Withee objected, his objection was heard and his objection was sustained. To now try to manufacture something that did not occur demeans the process. In regard to the shackling issue, there has been neither a showing that Mr. Withee was ineffective or that there was any actual prejudice within the meaning of Strickland. See also <u>Eutzy v. State</u>, 536 So.2d 1014 (Fla. 1985).

(V7, P1274-77).

The trial judge is correct that this issue is procedurally barred. Any substantive constitutional challenge to the restraint employed could have and should have been presented on direct appeal and is thus procedurally barred. *See Harvey v. Dugger*, 656 So. 2d 1253, 1256 (Fla. 1995). *Elledge v. State*, 911 So. 2d 57 (Fla. 2005).

Floyd tries to avoid the procedural bar by raising the claim as an ineffectiveassistance-of-counsel claim. The Florida Supreme Court will not consider such procedurally barred claims under the guise of ineffective assistance of counsel. *See Freeman v. State*, 761 So. 2d 1055, 1067 (Fla. 2000) (holding that claims that could have been raised on direct appeal cannot be relitigated under the guise of ineffective assistance of counsel). *Rodriguez v. State*, 919 So.2d 1252 (Fla. 2005). Even if this issue were not procedurally barred, the case on which Floyd relies, *Deck v. Missouri*, 544 U.S. 622 (2005), does not apply retroactively. *See Marquard v. Sec., Dept. of Corrections*, 429 F.3d 1278 (11th Cir. 2005).

Last, this claim has no merit. *Deck* and the Florida cases addressing this issue concern themselves with shackles that are visible to the jury, whether in the guilt phase or penalty phase of a capital murder trial. It is only when <u>visible shackles</u> are used that the State is required to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that that a shackling

error (if there was one) did not contribute to the verdict. Obviously, if a prisoner restraint is not visible to or perceived by the jury as a restraint it cannot have any influence on their deliberations. Thus, where <u>visible</u> restraints are not employed, the defendant bears the burden of proving actual prejudice to be entitled to postconviction relief on a shackling claim.

Trial counsel was not deficient because he did object when the trial judge suggested placing visible restraints on Floyd before the penalty phase. (ROA 2011-2017). The only restraint used was a leg brace, and the testimony at the evidentiary hearing contradicts Floyd's testimony that the jury could see the brace. The trial judge made a credibility determination that the leg brace was not visible to the jury.

Photographs of the leg brace device were introduced in evidence at the evidentiary hearing (Vol. 3 P488, 490; State Exhibits 6 and 7).

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